#### Statement Of The Issues

Issue Presented: Whether the petitioner's, Curtis L. Walker ("Walker", "Petitioner"), sentence of life with a parole eligibility date of 75 years is in violation of the 8th Amendment of the U.S. Constitution if the sentencing court made a finding that he was capable of being reformed, rather than being incorrigible, entitling him to relief?

Walker initially filed a postconviction motion pursuant to Wis. Stat. §974.06 in the Miwaukee County Circuit Court on April 26, 2016 challenging the constitionality of his prison sentence. That motion was denied by the Honorable J.D. Watts on May 4, 2016. Walker appealed pursuant to §809.10. The Court of Appeals summarily affirmed the circuit court's decision on January 25, 2022. Walker now petitions this Court for review pursuant to §809.62(1m).

#### Statement Of The Criteria

This Court should grant this petition because:

- 1) It presents a real and significant question of federal and state constitutional law;
- 2) A decision by the Supreme Court will help develop, clarify and harmonize the law, and;
- a. The question presented is a novel one, the resolution of which will have statewide impact;
- b. The Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with controlling opinions of the U.S. Supreme Court.

### Statement Of The Case

Walker was convicted of 1st Degree Intentional Homicide,

While Armed, contrary to §940.01 and 939.63(1)(A)2 on December 7, 1995 in Milwaukee County (case No. 1994CF044079). He was sentenced on January 22, 1996 by the Honorable Stanley Miller to a mandatory life sentence, with a discretionary parole eligibility date set at 75 years.

In 1996 Walker filed a postconviction motion pursuant to §974.02 raising issues other than the propriety of his sentence. The motion was denied and Walker appealed (1996AP2239). On May 20, 1998 the Court of Appeals affirmed the judgment of conviction and the order denying postconviction relief. Walker than filed a petition for review to this court which was denied on July 24, 1998.

In 1999 Walker filed a postconviction motion pursuant to §974.06 in the circuit court, again challenging issues other than the propriety of his sentence. That motion was denied on March 15, 1999. Walker appealed (1999AP0945). The Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court's ruling. Walker filed a petition for review to this court. That petition was denied on February 2, 2001.

On April 26, 2016 Walker filed a postconviction motion pursuant to §974.06 arguing that in light of the decisions of the U.S. Supreme Court in Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 2455 (2012) and Montgomery v. Louisiana, 136 S.Ct. 718 (2016), that his sentence was unconstitutional. Walker argued that not only had the sentencing not found him to be incorrigible, but that the sentencing court made a finding that he could be reformed which

invokes the principles and proscriptions of Miller and Montgomery. The Honorable J.D. Watts denied postconviction relief on May 4, 2016, ruling that because Walker's sentence has a parole eligibility date that the sentence does not fall under the cruel and unusual punishment provisions of the 8th Amendment. Walker appealed (2016AP1058).

The Court of Appeals summarily affirmed the circuit court's decision, assuming that in light of the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in Jones v. Mississippi, 141 S.Ct. 1307(2021), that the issue of Walker's appeal was whether the sentencing court had discretion at the time of the sentencing was constitutionally sufficient under the 8th Amendment. This left unaddressed Walker's argument that the sentencing court made a finding that Walker was capable of being reformed and still imposed a sentence which was contrary to the holdings of Miller and Montgomery.

#### Argument

Walker's sentence is in violation of the 8th Amendment because the sentencing court found him to be capable of reform while issuing a lifetime sentence, which demonstrates that sufficient consideration was not giving to his youth as required by Miller and Montgomery, entitling him to relief.

Walker argued in his postconviction motion (R:56:7(labeled pg #5)) and on appeal (appx B) that the sentencing court made an on-the-record finding that he could be reformed (and therefore not incorrigible), then proceeded to sentence Walker to a lifetime prison sentence which leaves the sentence in violation of the 8th Amendment according to the holdings of Miller and

Montgomery. The circuit court ignored this argument, ruling instead that since Walker had a parole eligibility date that he was not entitled to relief. (R:57)

The Court of Appeals chose to view Walker's argument only as a claim that the sentencing court simply had not made an on-the-record finding of incorrigiblity. (appx C pg 2) This view by the Court of Appeals assumes that Walker believes that he is entitled to a determination of whether or not he is incorrigible. The Court of Appeals viewed its interpretation of Walker's argument through the lens of Jones, ruling that Walker's claim fails because his sentence was impose under a discretionary sentencing system. (appx C pg 4). "Miller did not require the sentencer to make a separate finding of permanent incorrigibility before imposing such a sentence." Jones at 1316. If Walker's issue was the necessity of the sentencer having discretion or of the necessity of the sentencer making an on-the-record finding then the Court of Appeals opinion would be correct. Left unaddressed in their opinion is the question: what happens when, as here in Walker's case, the sentencer decides to make an onthe record finding that he is capable of being reformed but still issues a lifetime sentence?

The Jones' Court took the opportunity to say that
"Montgomery was clear 'A hearing where youth and its attendant
characteristics are necessary to separate those juveniles who
may be sentenced to life without parole from those who may not."

Id. at 1317-18 (quoting Montgomery) The "those who may not" be sentenced to a lifetime in prison are those who the sentencer decides are capable of reform. "Even if a court considers a child's age before sentencing him or her to a lifetime in prison, that sentence still violates the Eighth Amendment for a child whose crime reflect 'unfortunate yet transient immaturity.'" Montgomery at 735 (quoting Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S., at 537)

Jones would allow a reviewing court to assume that because asentencer, operating under a discretionary sentencing systeming, necessarily considers the youth of a juvenile convicted of homicide, as required by Miller, because "it would be all but impossible for a sentencer to avoid considering that mitigating factor." Jones at 1320. The Jones Court presumably imagined that if a sentencer considered youth as a factor but still imposed a lifetime sentence on a juvenile, then that sentence itself is evidence that the sentencer has concluded that the juvenile is incorrigible. "And appellate courts do not necessarily reverse merely because the sentencer could have said more about mitigating circumstances. See Campbell 477; 22A Cal. Jur. 3rd Criminal Law: ('[U]nless the record affirmatively reflects otherwise, the trial court will be deemed to have considered the relevant criteria, such as mitigating circumstances, enumerated in the sentencing rules.')" Jones at 1321

Here, in Walker's case, there is no need to assume or infer as to what the sentencer thought or concluded as Jones would allow in the absence of an affirmative reflection in the record

because the sentencing court chose to make its finding on the record, though it was not rquired to do so. During sentencing Judge Miller said:

"You need an awful lot of work to be done within yourself. You still have many, many decisions to make, and you are going to a place where--firsr of all, you go to the prison system with a certain status because of your act, which is unfortunate, so you have to live with that. If you chose to be a different person, live a different life, you will have to turn your back on everything that you have known. That is a big callenge for you, and the Court wishes you well in that regard." (R:41:31)

The sentencing court did not declare that Walker would be reformed or when, only that it was possible. This necessarily invokes the principles and proscription set forth in Miller, Montgomery and Jones because a conflict exist between the sentencing court's opinion that Walker was not incorrigible and the lifetime prison sentence imposed. Those three decisions make clear that a discretionary sentencing system should not be able to produce a lifetime prison sentence when a sentencer has made the finding which Judge Miller has, as Jones summed up at 1317-18. "Although we do not foreclose a sentencer's ability to make that judgment [of incorrigibility] in homicide cases, we require it to take into account how children are different, and how those difference counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison." Miller at 2469. "That Miller did not impose a formal factfinding requirement does not leave States free to sentence a child whose crime reflects transient immaturity to life without parole. To the contrary,

Miller established that this punishment is disproportionate under the Eighth Amendment." Montgomery at 735.

The Court of Appeals concluded that Walker's sentence is not contrary to Miller and Montgomery because the sentencing court, after considering his youth, chose to give more weight to other factors such as culpability, the gravity of the offense and that Walker was dangerous. (Appx C pg 5) But the sentencing court did not assume that Walker would be forever dangerous, only that he was currently dangerous as a result of not having the tools necessary to help him. "Some day we will find help for human beings to get over this and become productive citizens, but today all we have are the tools available, and these tools have not worked, and you are dangerous as a result." (41:29) The sentencing court believed that Walker's dangerousness to be something that could be transient, something which could be reformed. (R:41:31) "Deciding that a 'juvenile offender forever will be a danger to society' would require 'mak[ing] a judgment that [he] is incorrigible'--but incorrigibility is inconsistent with youth. And for the same reason, rehabilitation could not justify that sentence. Life without parole 'forswears altogether the rehabilitative ideal.'" Miller at 2465

Neither can the gravity of the offense be a justification for a lifetime prison sentence as the sentencing court suggested (R:41:31-32) and the Court of Appeal affirmed. "Roper and Graham emphasized that the distinctive attributes of youth diminish

the penological justifications for imposing the harshest sentences on juvenile offenders, even when they commit terrible crimes." Miller at 2465

What is the purpose of mandating a discretionary sentencing system in regards to juveniles in Miller, Montgomery and Jones if not to ensure that certain juveniles would not receive those lifetime sentences?"Miller, then, did more than require a sentencer to consider a juvenile offender's youth before imposing life without parole; it established that the penological justifications for life without parole collapses in light of 'the distinctive attributes of youth.'" Montgomery at 734

The petitioner request that this petition be granted to resolve the conflict between the sentencing court's opinion on the record that he was not incorrigible and the lifetime prison sentence.

Dated this 15th day of February, 2022.

Respectfully submitted

Curtis L. Walker, pro se

#231105

New Lisbon Correctional Inst.

P.O. BOX 2000

New Lisbon, WI 53950

I hereby certify that this petition conforms to the rules contained in §809.62(4)(a) for a petition with a monospaced font, double-spaced with 1 inch margins. This petition is 21 pages, including a 9 page appendix.

Dated at New Lisbon, WI on February 15,2022.

Curtis L. Walker, pro se