STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

FILED

MAR 0 4 2022

No. 2016AP1058

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Defendant-Respondent,

v.

CURTIS L. WALKER,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-2797 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) latorracadv@doj.state.wi.us

INTRODUCTION

The State of Wisconsin opposes Curtis L. Walker's petition for review of the court of appeals' summary disposition order denying his Wis. Stat. § 974.06 motion. State v. Curtis L. Walker, No. 2016AP1058 (Wis. Ct. App. January 25, 2022) (unpublished). The court of appeals rejected Walker's argument that the circuit court's imposition of a life sentence with a 2071 parole eligibility date violated the Eighth Amendment's prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. Walker, slip op. at 1–6.

As a 17-year-old, Walker shot and killed a policer officer whom he and a coconspirator randomly selected. Walker, slip op. at 2. A jury later found Walker guilty of first-degree intentional homicide. *Id*. The sentencing court sentenced Walker to a life sentence, setting his parole eligibility date in 2071, 75 years after his sentencing date. *Id*.

Relying on *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460 (2012), and *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 577 U.S. 190 (2016), Walker filed a postconviction motion seeking resentencing. *Walker*, slip op. at 2. Walker argued that his sentence was unconstitutional because the sentencing court failed to consider his youth, including how he differed from a juvenile offender and whether he was beyond rehabilitation. *Id*.

The court of appeals assumed, without deciding, that Walker's sentence constituted a "de facto life-without-parole sentence that implicates *Miller* and *Montgomery*." *Walker*, slip op. at 4. Based on *Jones v. Mississippi*, 593 U.S. ____, 141 S.Ct. 1307 (2021), the court of appeals determined that *Miller* and *Montgomery* did not require a sentencing court to make a separate finding of permanent incorrigibility. *Walker*, slip op. at 4. By reference to the sentencing court's comments, the court of appeals rejected Walker's argument that the sentencing court failed to consider his youth and its attendant

Filed 03-04-2022

circumstances as a mitigating factor before it sentenced him and set his parole eligibility date. *Walker*, slip op. at 4–5.

CRITERIA FOR GRANTING REVIEW

Walker asks this Court to grant review for two reasons. First, he contends that his case presents a real and significant question of federal and state constitutional law. (Pet. 4.) Second, he asserts that this Court's decision will help develop, clarify, and harmonize the law, and that the question he presents is a novel one and that the court of appeals' decision conflicts with the United States Supreme Court's opinions. (Pet. 4.). Walker's case does not warrant this Court's review.

Walker's sentence was not unconstitutional because it was not contrary Miller and Montgomery. In Miller, the Court held that the Eighth Amendment's prohibition against cruel and unusual punishments "forbids a sentencing scheme that mandates life in prison without possibility of parole for juvenile offenders." Miller, 567 U.S. at 479 However, the Supreme Court expressly recognized the continued discretionary authority of sentencing courts to sentence a juvenile to a life-without-parole sentence when the crime reflects "irreparable corruption." Id. at 479-80. In Montgomery, another case where state sentencing law mandated a non-parolable life sentence, the Supreme Court declared that "Miller announced a substantive rule of constitutional law" and, therefore, a defendant could benefit from its retroactive application on collateral review. Montgomery, 577 U.S. at 208-09.

In Jones, the Supreme Court held that a discretionary juvenile life sentence is constitutional because for Eighth Amendment purposes, "[i]n a case involving an individual who was under 18 when he or she committed a homicide, a State's discretionary sentencing system is both constitutionally necessary and constitutionally sufficient." Jones, 141 S. Ct. at 1313. Jones clarified that the Court's

previous decisions in *Miller* and *Montgomery*, together required "a discretionary sentencing procedure" for sentencing juveniles to life imprisonment, because mandatory life-without-parole sentences for offenders under 18 "pose[d] too great a risk of disproportionate punishment." *Jones*, 141 S. Ct. at 1317. (citation omitted).

The Supreme Court concluded that when a sentencing court exercises its discretion to impose a juvenile life sentence, it is not required to make either an explicit or implicit factual finding of the juvenile's "permanent incorrigibility." Jones, 141 S. Ct. at 1317-18. Such a finding is not necessary based on applicable precedents nor is it "necessary to make life-without parole sentences for juvenile offenders relatively rare" or to "ensure that a sentencer considers a defendant's youth." Id. At 1318-19. The Court described that the "key assumption" of Miller and Montgomery "was that discretionary sentencing allows the sentencer to consider the defendant's youth, and thereby helps ensure that life-without-parole sentences are imposed only in cases where that sentence is appropriate in light of the defendant's age." Jones, 141 S. Ct. at 1318. Moreover, the Court explained that its opinion was consistent with and did not overrule or unduly narrow the holdings in Miller and Montgomery "that a State may not impose a mandatory lifewithout-parole sentence on a murderer under 18." Id. at 1321

The key takeaways from *Jones* are that (1) so long as a state does not have a mandatory life sentence statute but rather, like Wisconsin, has a discretionary sentencing system that allows the court to consider the offender's youth, a juvenile life sentence is constitutional; (2) a court exercising its sentencing discretion to impose a juvenile life sentence need not make an explicit or implicit finding that the offender is permanently incorrigible; and (3) discretionary sentencing necessarily allows the sentencer to consider the offender's youth and ensures that a court will impose a juvenile, life-

Page 5 of 10

without-parole sentence only where appropriate and not disproportionate.

Unlike in Miller and Montgomery, Walker was not sentenced under a sentencing scheme that mandated that he serve a life-sentence following his conviction for first-degree intentional homicide. Rather, Wis. Stat. § 973.014(1) (1993-94) provided that the sentencing court had the discretion to either (a) not specify a parole eligibility date, in which case Walker would have been eligible for parole after he served at least 20 years, or (b) exercise its discretion and set Walker's parole eligibility date later than the 20-year minimum. See Wis. Stat. §§ 304.06(1) and 973.014(1); State v. Borrell, 167 Wis. 2d 749, 767, 482 N.W.2d 883 (1992). Further, in setting a parole eligibility date, the sentencing court was required to follow this Court's precedent guiding the exercise of its sentencing discretion: "The sentence imposed in each case should recognize the minimum amount of custody or confinement that is consistent with the need to protect the public, the gravity of the offense and the rehabilitative needs of the convicted defendant." Borrell, 167 Wis. 2d at 764, citing McCleary v. State, 49 Wis.2d 263, 276, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971). Thus, whereas state law mandated the sentencing courts in Miller and Montgomery to impose a mandatory life sentence, this Court's precedents required the circuit court to set Walker's parole eligibility date consistent with its duty to impose the minimum amount of confinement, considering the need for public protection, the gravity of Walker's offense, and his rehabilitative needs.

The court of appeals assumed, without deciding that Walker's life sentence implicated *Miller* and *Montgomery*. Walker, slip op. at 4. Based on its review of the record, the court of appeal determined that the sentencing court considered "Walker's youth and its attendant circumstances as a mitigating factor before imposing [Walker's] sentence." *Id*. But in the end, the sentencing court placed greater weight

Case 2016AP001058

on other factors, including the gravity of the offense and Walker's role, than his age and its attendant circumstances. *Walker*, slip op. at 5.

The record supports the court of appeals' decision. Walker's crime was not the product of character traits easily influenced by outside pressures or impulsivity that often drive juvenile misconduct. See Miller, 132 S. Ct. at 2464. Rather, the officer's death was the product of Walker's and his coconspirator's careful planning, including their scheme to shoot a police officer, Walker's role as the shooter, Walker's choice of weapon—a .308 rifle with a scope that allowed him to shoot from a distance, Walker's selection of a location to execute his crime as he awaited his co-conspirator's signal, and Walker's waiting patiently before his opportunity arose. (R. 39:24, 39–40.) The premeditated nature of his crime made Walker's crime particularly serious, undermining any claim that it was the product of outside pressure or youthful impulsivity.

The sentencing court was aware of Walker's youth when it assessed his character and rehabilitative needs. The court considered Walker's history of placements and counseling that Walker had received in the juvenile justice system. (R. 41:29.) It recognized the challenges of finding "refined methods for helping people who are as you are in your circumstances[,]" young males who have committed "very serious crimes at very, very early ages, and we are not able to spout th[is] flow." (R. 41:28-29.) The circuit court observed that the tools available for helping someone in Walker's situation "have not worked" and that Walker is "dangerous" as a result. (R. 41:29.) It recognized that the prospects for rehabilitative change were limited and long-term in Walker's case. "[W]e have limited methods [to change people]. You need an awful lot of work to be done within yourself." To make meaningful change, Walker would need to "turn [his] back on everything that you have known. That is a big challenge for

Page 7 of 10

you." (R. 41:31.) On this record, the court of appeals could reasonably conclude that the sentencing court did not ignore Walker's age and attendant circumstances, but that, in the exercise of its discretion, it placed greater weight on other factors, including the severity of the homicide and Walker's role committing it. Walker, slip op. at 5.

Walker asserts that the court of appeals failed to address "what happens when . . . the sentencer decides to make an on-the-record finding that he is capable of being reformed but still issues a lifetime sentence." (Pet. 7.) Walker's argument fails. First, the sentencing court did not sentence Walker to a life sentence without the possibility of parole; rather, it set his parole eligibility date as authorized under section 973.014(1) (1993-94), even if that date may have been beyond his life expectancy. Second, even if Walker were capable of being reformed, nothing in Miller, Montgomery, or Jones suggests that a sentencing court must weigh this factor greater than other factors, including the seriousness of the offense, when it exercises sentencing discretion. Indeed, the Supreme Court recognized that sentencing courts reviewing the same facts may weigh youth and, presumably, their related prospects for rehabilitation, differently—with one court concluding "that a defendant's youth supports a sentence less than life without parole" while another court deciding "that life without parole remains appropriate despite a defendant's youth." Jones, 141 S.Ct. 1319-20. Thus, nothing in Miller, Montgomery, or Jones suggests that Walker's prospects for reform trumped other commonly recognized sentencing factors or foreclosed the sentencing court from setting a parole eligibility date that limited his parole prospects.

Contrary to Walker's assertion, his case does not present a real and significant issue of constitutional law, nor has he demonstrated that it presents a novel issue, much less one that conflicts with prior precedent. His petition does not demonstrate that the circuit court's sentence or the court of appeals' decision conflicted with *Miller*, *Montgomery*, or *Jones*. Nor has Walker suggested that a conflict exists between these decisions and Wisconsin precedent guiding the imposition of discretionary life sentences, including *State v. Ninham*, 2011 WI 33, ¶83, 333 Wis. 2d 335, 797 N.W.2d 451, cert. denied 567 U.S. 952 (2012) and *State v. Barbeau*, 2016 WI App 51, 370 Wis. 2d 736, 883 N.W.2d 520, cert. denied, 137 S. Ct. 821 (2017).

In *Ninham*, this Court rejected Ninham's as-applied challenge, to the constitutionality of his juvenile life-without-parole sentence, holding that under Wisconsin law, "[i]f the sentence is within the statutory limit, appellate courts will not interfere" with the court's discretion unless the sentence is "so disproportionate to the offense committed, as to shock public sentiment and violate the judgment of reasonable people concerning what is right and proper under the circumstances." *Ninham*, 333 Wis. 2d 335, ¶ 85 (citations omitted). Ninham's youth did not "automatically remove his punishment out of the realm of proportionate" and, while his life-without-parole sentence was "severe," it was not cruel and unusual because it was proportionally based on the "horrific and senseless" nature of his crime. *Id.* ¶¶ 85–86.

Similarly, in *Barbeau*, the court of appeals held that because in Wisconsin, a court exercises its sentencing discretion to determine when a homicide offender is eligible for release, a juvenile life sentence is not unconstitutional when "the circumstances warrant it" and the court "take[s] into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison." *Barbeau*, 370 Wis. 2d 736, ¶ 32 (citing Miller, 567 U.S at 480). If anything, *Jones* reinforced the holdings in *Ninham* and *Barbeau* that discretionary, juvenile life sentences, where the court necessarily considers the

Case 2016AP001058

offender's youth as part of its exercise of discretion, are not disproportionate.

Walker's case does not present a real and significant question of the federal or state constitution. And a decision in his case will not develop, clarify, or harmonize the law because the question he presents is neither novel nor demonstrates that the court of appeals' decision conflicts with other precedent.

CONCLUSION

This Court should deny Walker's petition for review.